2007 - CA-01474

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record stipulates that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the judges of the Court may evaluate possible disqualifications or recusal.

A. Parties:

Appellant:

Appellee:

Jonathan M. Harbit

Mary Melissa Scarberry Harbit

Β. Attorneys:

For Appellant:

For Appellee:

С. Judge **Carlos Moore**

Rusty Harlow

Honorable Vicki Cobb Grenada County Chancellor

Carlos E. Moore, MSB#

OF COUNSEL: MOORE LAW OFFICE, PLLC P.O. BOX 1402 Grenada, MS 38902-1402 662.227.9940

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

ISSUE ONE

Whether the Chancellor erred when she failed to grant the defendant's motion for new trial when the Chancellor allowed unsworn testimony to be taken in violation of Miss. Rule of Evidence 603, which states; "before testifying, every witness shall be required to declare that he will testify truthfully, by oath or affirmation administered in a form calculated to awaken his conscience and impress his mind with a duty to do so."

ISSUE TWO

Whether or not, the Chancellor erred when she charged the Appellant with a debt incurred throughout the course of the marriage on property that was co-mingled.

ISSUE THREE

Whether or not, the Chancellor erred when she order the appellant to pay attorney fee's incurred when she based her findings on unsworn testimony and engaged in improper procedure, violating rule 68 of Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure, when she conducted an improper assignment based on an offer of judgment, after she made a determination in regards to the awarding of legal fees.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Jonathan M. Harbit (hereinafter Mr. Harbit) brings this appeal from the Judgement of Divorce entered by the Chancellor of Grenada County, on June 14, 2007. Mr. Harbit had been married to Mary Melissa Scarberry Harbit (hereinafter Ms. Scarberry) for six (6) years. At the time of the divorce, Mr. Harbit was working as a field technician for Cable One, and Ms. Scarberry was working for the Emergency Operating Center. The Chancellor made findings based on unsworn testimony which violates M.R.E. 603. The Chancellor ordered that the parties have joint legal custody and awarded Ms. Scarberry primary physical custody of the parties' minor child, Michael Lisette Lorena Harbit, who is six (6) years of age. (T. 61, RE 20-21, 24) The Chancellor also charged the payment of a marital debt to Mr. Harbit solely, when the property in question was co-mingled throughout the course of the marriage. (T. 68-69, RE 25-26) The Chancellor also awarded the payment of attorney's fees using an improper application of rule 68 of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure when she reviewed a previous offer of settlement and awarded attorney fees based upon that proposal when the Mr. Harbit was never held in contempt of court or violated any terms of the preliminary order. Financially unable to comply with the court's ruling, Mr. Harbit perfects this appeal in an effort to seek relief.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

- I. The Chancellor erred in allowing unsworn testimony to be deemed admissible in violation of Rule 603 of evidence. The chancellor made findings of law and fact from witnesses who failed to take an oath. This violates the explicit language of Rule 603, which states, "before testifying, every witness shall be required to declare that he will testify truthfully, by oath or affirmation administered in a form calculated to awaken his conscience and impress his mind with a duty to do so."
- II. The Chancellor erred when it assigned payment of debt associated with commingled property to the Appellant. According to *Henderson v. Henderson*, 703 So. 2d 261, 265 (Miss. 1997), separate property that is commingled throughout the course of the marriage transfers into marital property.
- III. The Chancellor erred when she assigned the Appellant with the payment of the Appellee's attorney fees based upon unsworn testimony and incorrect application of Rule 68 of Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure.

ARGUMENT

In this divorce action, the Chancery Court erred by making factual determinations based upon unsworn testimony. This simple divorce case based upon limited assets has placed Mr. Harbit in a significant financially burdensome state. The Chancellor applied a substantial portion of marital debt solely to the Appellant. In addition to paying debt incurred by both parties over the course of the marriage, the Appellant was also charged with the payment of Ms. Scarberry's legal fees without a full analysis being placed upon each individual's separate estate after equitable distribution. (RE 23) It is legally unconscionable to essentially punish one party in an irreconcilable differences divorce when grounds for dissolution have not been a factor in the equation.

Standard of Review

In matters concerning domestic relations, the reviewing Court will not overturn a Chancellor's findings which are based upon substantial credible evidence unless the findings were manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous, or an incorrect legal standard was applied. *Magruder v. Magruder*, 881 So. 2d 363, 369 (P17) (Miss. Ct. App. 2004).

Applicable Law

The issue on appeal is whether or not it is legally plausible for a Chancellor to base findings of law and fact on improperly conducted testimony, completely disregarding the Mississippi Rules of Evidence and procedural posturing. In the case at bar the Chancellor allowed unsworn testimony, which is prohibited by Miss. Rule of Evidence 603. In addition to admitting unsworn testimony, the Chancellor also

committed reversible error when marital debt associated with commingled marital assets was only assigned to one party, which violates <u>Henderson v. Henderson</u>, 703 So. 2d 261, 265 (Miss. 1997), which determined that commingled property transfers into marital property. Lastly, the chancellor committed manifest error when an improper analysis of Rule 68 of Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure was applied in the awarding of legal fees. These cumulative failures not only severely prejudiced the Appellant's claims, but allowed for an inequitable division of property and debt.

Mississippi Courts generally allow the open testimony of a competent witness with personal knowledge concerning the matter appearing before the court. While it is not alleged that neither Ms. Scarberry nor Mr. Harbit lacked the requisite knowledge that would aid the Chancellor in a resolution in the contested matters, it is alleged that improper procedure was conducted that ultimately prejudiced the Chancellor's findings. According to Miss. Rule of Evidence 603, which states, "before testifying, every witness shall be required to declare that he will testify truthfully, by oath or affirmation administered in a form calculated to awaken his conscience and impress his mind with his duty to do so." This rule was designed to promote open and honest testimony. Failure to establish an oath allows one to testify in a manner that does not awaken his or her conscience and in essence promotes false testimony. While no specific Mississippi Court cases speak to the resolving of this issue, it is important to note the Court's stance on issues involving perjury and analogize its stance to the facts presented within this instance.

According to Pierce v. Heritage Props., Inc., essentially all false testimony should be purged from the record, and any awards should not be made based upon false testimony. 668 So. 2d 1385 (Miss. 1997). Additionally, Scoggings, further supports this argument when the Court affirmed the trial court's dismissal of an action because the plaintiff submitted false answers during the discovery phase of the lawsuit. Scoggins v. Ellzey Beverages, Inc., 743 So. 2d 990 (Miss. 1999). While these facts do not entirely coincide with the case at bar, they effectively illustrate the importance of sworn, truthful testimony, which allows Mr. Harbit to make the argument that there is no way to determine whether or not the testimony taken throughout the proceeding was indeed honest or conducted properly. In addition to this argument, the Chancellor acknowledged this error and attempted to correct this by causing both parties to testify that their previously given respective testimony was indeed true, but this procedure failed to strike awareness from the outset and allowed possible tainted evidence to persuade the Chancellor's judgment. (T. 50-51, 81, RE 27-29) While the cases described were ended at the discovery phase, it is important to acknowledge that this potential contamination was conducted at trial, which is the most critical phase of the lawsuit and the appropriate remedy would have been to declare a new trial where the witnesses could be examined under oath properly. Due to this massive error, Mr. Harbit contends that each legal finding is insufficient, biased, and prejudiced and should have further review.

In the alternative, Mr. Harbit would also argue that the Chancellor erred in her assignment of a marital debt based upon inadmissible testimony. "Mississippi applies the

ŧ

i

doctrine of equitable distribution when deciding issues of marital assets." Taxler v. Taxler, 730 So. 2d 1098, 1101-03 (Miss. 1998). "Marital property is defined as, 'any and all property acquired or accumulated during the marriage." Id. In addition to property acquired throughout the course of the marriage, separate property can be converted into marital property by commingling. Henderson v. Henderson, 703 So. 2d 261, 265 (Miss. 1997) ("the money received from Mary's parents, which was initially non-marital property, became marital property when Mary commingled it with the marital assets."); Maslowski v. Maslowski, 655 So. 2d 18, 20 (Miss. 1995) (commingling occurs when there is "a combination of marital and non-marital property which loses its status as nonmarital as a result"). Mr. Harbit contends that while the Toyota 4- Runner in question was initially separate property, Ms. Scarberry allowed it to be converted throughout the course of the marriage. When the couple ran into troubled times, the couple made a joint decision to refinance the Toyota 4-Runner in order to pay outstanding financial obligations. (T. 36, RE 30) This illustrates that the property was successively converted from separate property to marital property because it was used to secure a marital debt. In essence this is the same as placing separate assets into a marital account. Therefore, Ms. Scarberry's allowance of the Toyota 4-Runner to be used as marital property dissolved her separate property interest and as such, the debt assigned to the property should be distributed equitably according to the procedures outlined in Mississippi case law.

Additionally, Mr. Harbit would also argue that the Chancellor failed to make a procedurally sound decision regarding the awarding of attorney fees when she conducted her assessment based upon potentially tainted information, an unjustified offer of judgment and contrary to current Mississippi case law. According to McKee, the criteria to be analyzed in determining whether or not to award attorney fees include, (1) "relative financial ability of the parties;" (2) the "skill and standing of the attorney employed," (3) novelty and difficulty of the issues in the case, (4) the responsibility required in managing the case, (5) "time and labor required," (6) the "usual and customary charge in the community, and (7) whether the attorney was precluded from undertaking other employment by accepting the case. McKee v. McKee, 418 So. 2d 764, 767 (Miss. 1982). Neither of these factors was addressed in the ruling of the court. While the assessment of attorney's fees is at the sound discretion of the Chancellor, failure to analyze these factors effectively illustrates reversible error. The court has also established as a general rule that if a party is financially capable of paying his or her legal fees, that party should do so. Langdon v. Langdon, 854 So. 2d 485, 495 (P40) (Miss. Ct. App. 2003). Mr. Harbit would argue that the Chancellor engaged in an improper analysis in determining whether or not attorney fees should be awarded to Ms. Scarberry. In essence if the testimony in question is determined to be admissible during Ms. Scarberry's she admitted that she chose an attorney that she could afford to pay. (T. 35, RE 31) Ms. Scarberry's admission should discharge Mr. Harbit of any liability concerning any debt she occurred as a result of this divorce action.

8

i

Additionally, Mr. Harbit would contend that the Chancellor engaged in improper procedure when she made an assessment concerning legal fees based upon an offer of judgment as outlined by Rule 68 of Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure. According to the rule the Chancellor has the discretion to attach fees in the event that the plaintiff would have achieved a more effective settlement than the one received by the court. However assessment of additional legal fees based upon inadmissible testimony in essence presents error and additional legal costs that could have been avoided if the proceedings were conducted properly.

Mr. Harbit would further argue that he did not engage in any improper conduct that further prolonged the case in question or caused additional legal fees. Several prior decisions have upheld the awarding of attorney's fees to one party in cases where one party has actually been found in contempt of court of engaged in conduct that has caused additional legal fees. *See <u>A&L</u>, Inc, v. Grantham*, 747 So. 2d 832, 844-845 (Miss. 1999) (holding that awarding attorney's fees under certain circumstances, regardless of the party's ability to pay is not a reward, but reimbursement for the extra legal costs incurred as a result of the opposing party's actions); <u>Douglas v. Douglas</u>, 766 So. 2d 68, 71 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000) (where a party who is entitled to the benefits of a previous judicial decree is forced to initiate further proceedings to gain compliance with the previous order of the court, an award of attorney's fees is appropriate). Mr. Harbit contends that he did not engage in any improper conduct nor did he violate any terms of the preliminary

ŧ

agreement. As such each respective party should be responsible for their own attorney's fees.

CONCLUSION

In the claim at bar, Mr. Harbit was disproportionately and adversely harmed by the errors committed by the Chancellor. The Chancellor's failure to conduct proceedings in accordance to the Mississippi Rules of Evidence and Civil Procedure, effectively illustrates that all of the findings of law were inaccurate and unsupported by any legally sufficient evidence. Therefore, any factual determinations made by the Chancellor are fatally flawed and inequitable. As such, Mr. Harbit respectfully request this honorable Court to reverse and remand the present case to the appropriate Chancery court and allow a new trial to be conducted in accordance to proper procedure and the rule of law.