IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

2007-CA-01474	
JONATHAN M. HARBIT	APPELLANT
VERSUS	
MARY MELISSA SCARBERRY HARBIT	APPELLEE
On appeal from the Chancery Court of Grenada County	·
BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE	

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

A. E. (Rusty) Harlow, Jr., MSB Sabrina A. Davidson, MSB Harlow Law Firm 1360 Sunset Drive, Suite 3 Grenada, MS 38901 662-226-7215 Fax 662-226-2932

Certificate of Interested Persons

The undersigned counsel of record certifies the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Justices of the Supreme Court and/or Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On the 20th day of February, 2007, the Appellee filed her Complaint for Divorce with the chancery clerk of Grenada county, Mississippi. R-ii. On March 20, 2007, the Appellant filed an Answer and Counter-complaint for Divorce and Motion to Dismiss. Id. An Offer of Judgment, pursuant to Rule 68 of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure, was filed under seal with the chancery clerk by the Appellee, and a copy duly forwarded to the Appellant as evidenced by the certificate of service. R-1. The Appellant did not accept the Offer of Judgment within ten (10) days and it was, therefore, rejected as is evidence by the continued litigation. R-ii. On June 14, 2007, the matter was tried by the chancery court of Grenada county, Mississippi, with the Honorable Chancellor Vicki B. Cobb presiding. Id. In advance of the trial, the Chancellor acknowledged that there was an Offer of Judgment filed which she would leave sealed until the conclusion of the trial pursuant to the rules. R-8.

The only two witnesses called to testify were the parties, Jonathan M. Harbit and Mary Melissa Scarberry Harbit. At some point during the Appellant's direct testimony, the chancellor realized that the witnesses had not been administered an oath prior to the beginning of the trial. R-12. The chancellor instructed the clerk to immediately administer an oath and include in that oath that the parties swore their previously given testimony was true. R-13. No objection was made by the Appellant at the time the potential error was discovered and subsequent oath was administered. R-13.

The trial concluded and the chancellor delivered an oral opinion which, among other things, allocated the debt associated with the Appellee's 4-Runner to the Appellant and assessed the Appellant with a portion of the Appellee's attorney's fees that were incurred after the Offer of

Judgment was made. R-16. Aggrieved by the chancellor's ruling, the Appellant, for the first time, raised somewhat of an objection to the chancellor basing her opinion on the "unsworn" testimony of the Appellee. R-22. His objection was overruled. R-22.

On June 21, 2007, the Appellant filed a Motion for Reconsideration requesting that the trial court order a new trial based on the fact that the witnesses were not sworn before giving testimony and the allegations that the trial court reviewed the offer of judgment prior to rendering an opinion.

R-6. The Appellant's Motion was denied and the present Appeal was subsequently filed. R-ii.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Appellant has presented no set of facts or rules of law that support his appeal. There is no way to conclude that the Chancellor's ruling was manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous, applied an erroneous legal standard, was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence, or was an abuse of discretion.

The Appellant has failed to show that the Chancellor was manifestly wrong in her ruling at trial. The Appellant seems to take issue with the following: 1) the trial court's reliance on what he claims to be unsworn testimony of witnesses; 2) the allocation of roughly \$2,000.00 of debt associated with a Toyota 4-Runner; and 3) the trial court's award of attorney's fees to the Appellee based on Rule 68 of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure and more specifically an Offer of Judgment rejected by the Appellant.

In response to the Appellant's complaints, the Appellee will show that any potential error in the witnesses not being sworn was immediately corrected by the Chancellor, assumably to the satisfaction of the Appellant since he made no objection at the time. The Appellee will further show that the Appellant is barred from raising an issue regarding the allocation of the 4-Runner debt as he did not address it at trail or in his Motion for Reconsideration or that, in the alternative, the allocation of the debt to the Appellant was not manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous, an application of an erroneous legal standard, against the overwhelming weight of the evidence, nor an abuse of discretion. Finally, the Appellee will clearly show that the trial court's award of attorney's fees to the Appellee was well within its discretion pursuant to Rule 68 of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure and that the Appellant's contention that neither the *McKee* nor *Langdon* factors were considered is a misplaced argument.

LAW AND ARGUMENT

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

In reviewing a trial Court's decision in a domestic relations case,, the chancellor's findings of fact and conclusions of law will not be disturbed unless the findings are manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous, or if the chancellor applied an incorrect legal standard. *Henderson v. Henderson*, 757 So.2d 285, 289-90 (Miss.2000). The chancellor's findings of fact will be reversed only where there is no "substantial, credible evidence in the record" to justify the findings. *Id.* The facts of a divorce decree are reviewed in the light most favorable to the Appellee. *Fisher v. Fisher*, 771 So.2d 364, 367 (Miss.2000).

II. THE CHANCELLOR DID NOT ERR IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL IN LIGHT OF "UNSWORN" TESTIMONY OF THE PARTIES.

The Appellee fully acknowledges that both of the parties testified for a period of time without having been sworn under oath due to an inadvertent error in circumstances wherein none of the officers of the court, including not only the chancellor but also counsel for the Appellant, counsel of the Appellee and the chancery clerk realized the oath had not been administered. Not only was there no error committed, the Appellant has inappropriately directed the attention of this Court to case law that is not on point and misleading. Furthermore, the Appellant has failed to make any showing whatsoever that the failure of the trial court to swear the witnesses before they gave testimony was, in any way, prejudicial to the Appellant or that the testimony would have been any different had the oath been administered at the outset, making the testimony a violation of Rule 603 of the Mississippi Rules of Evidence.

In an immediate effort to repair any potential error, the chancellor, upon realizing the

witnesses had not been sworn, instructed the clerk to administer the oath and in so doing to ask the witnesses to swear to their previous testimony. R-13. The chancellor even went so far as to admonish the parties "to think long and hard about" reaffirming their previous testimony. Id. Both parties swore that their previous testimony was truthful, thereby alleviating any concern that Rule 603 of the Mississippi Rules of Evidence was not complied with. Id. At the time that the parties swore to their previous testimony, the Appellant made no objection to how the potential error was corrected. Id. He never advised the Court that he was concerned that the previously unsworn testimony might not be truthful or was inadmissible for some reason. Id. In fact, the Appellant was silent except to say "Yes, sir" in response to the clerk's administration of the oath. Id. It was not until the Appellant received an unfavorable ruling that he objected to only the Appellee's testimony being unsworn. R-22. There was no mention that the Appellant's previously unsworn testimony was also objectionable. Id.

In his brief, the Appellant relies on *Pierce v. Heritage Properties, Inc.*, 688 So.2d 1385 (Miss.1997) and *Scoggins v. Elizey Beverages, Inc.*, 743 So.2d 990 (Miss.1999) for the assertion that false testimony is not favored, should be stricken from the record, and could even result in dismissal of a party's claim. See Appellant's Brief, p. 6. However, these opinions are wholly inaccurate cases upon which to rely. For one, both *Pierce* and *Scoggins* refer exclusively to untruthful or inaccurate *discovery* responses, and secondly, the Appellant assumes in his reliance on these cases that the testimony given by the Appellant himself and the Appellee was false. There is no indication that may be the case. There is no evidence in the record whatsoever that either parties' responses were untruthful.

Assuming that the Appellant is implying that either the Appellee or the Appellant himself

is lying, then the case of *Mosley v. Atterberry*, 819 So.2d 1268 (Miss.2002) is more on point. In *Mosley*, the Court affirmed a chancellor's decision not to modify a previous ruling that was based on the mother's admittedly false testimony. *Id.* Similarly to the Appellant in *Mosley*, the Appellant in the case *sub judice* made no motion to strike what he now asserts was inadmissible testimony and, therefore, should be barred from doing so now. *Id.* The *Mosley* Court went further and found that the chancellor, even with the definite knowledge that the wife's testimony was untruthful, is the "fact-finder in a domestic relations case [and] must decide who is telling the truth and what weight to give the testimony." *Id* at 1273. The chancellor in the case *sub judice* is also given the same deference. Assuming that the testimony given without an oath was tainted in some way, as the Appellant would have this Court believe, it is well within the chancellor's discretion to decide the case with that testimony. The chancellor was fully aware of any issues that may have arisen because the oath was not initially administered, and it was her discretion to weigh that testimony accordingly. There is no evidence presented by the Appellant that the chancellor did anything other then consider the testimony and evidence as it was presented to her.

The issue addressed by the Appellant that the trial court's ruling in this matter should be reversed as it is based on the fact that the parties' were not administered an oath in advance of testifying, but did reaffirm the responses given by them under oath, is simply without merit. There is no evidence of any kind of reversible error, and the Appellant's request for relief as to this issue should not be granted.

III. THE CHANCELLOR DID NOT ERR IN ALLOCATING DEBT ASSOCIATED WITH THE TOYOTA 4-RUNNER TO THE APPELLANT.

It is unclear in the Appellant's brief as to whether he is asserting that the debt associated with the Appellee's 4-Runner was wrongly allocated to the Appellant because, as addressed above, the testimony regarding the debt was not elicited under oath and was, therefore, inadmissible or if the Court simply erred in the division of marital debt. If it is the former, then the Appellee reasserts her position and responses as presented in the previous section with regard to the "unsworn" testimony.

However, if the Appellant is now asserting that the chancellor failed to appropriately distribute marital debt, regardless of the fact that some of the testimony was initially unsworn, his claim is not properly before this Court. In the Appellant's Motion for Reconsideration, he mentions only the issues of the oath and the offer of judgment and makes no reference to the trial court's division of marital property and/or debt. He made no objection at trial or in his post trial motion, making the issue not one that this Court can consider. The Appellant is now procedurally barred from asking for relief from this Court that he failed to bring to the attention of the trial court. *Curtiss v. Curtiss*, 781 So.2d 142 (Miss.Ct.App.2000).

In the alternative, the Appellee would show that the division of marital assets and debt is well within the chancellor's discretion. It is the uncontroverted testimony of both parties that there was no debt associated with the Toyota 4-Runner at the time of the marriage and that the debt which was ultimately incurred was a result of the Appellant being unemployed for a prolonged period of time, making the debt necessary because the Appellant was not producing any income for the family. R-9.

The Appellant cites cases dealing with marital property versus separate property and how commingling can result in separate property being converted into marital property. He cites these

cases and their holdings to reach the conclusion that the Appellant was wrongly saddled with the debt associated with the Toyota 4-Runner. However, the chancellor made no finding that the debt was not marital. She simply chose to allocate the debt to the Appellant, obviously because it was incurred at a time when the Appellant was unemployed. Certainly the chancellor's decision to allocate this specific debt to the Appellant is not outside of her discretion and was not manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous, or the application of an incorrect legal standard. The Appellant's request for relief with regard to the Toyota 4-Runner debt should be denied.

IV. THE CHANCELLOR DID NOT ERR IN ASSESSING THE APPELLANT WITH A PORTION OF THE APPELLEE'S ATTORNEY'S FEES PURSUANT TO RULE 68 OF THE MISSISSIPPI RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE.

The Appellant has lastly argued that this Court reverse the chancellor's award of attorney's fees to the Appellee. However, the Appellant's argument that there was neither a *McKee* finding nor a finding that the Appellee was unable to pay her own attorney's fees, pursuant to *Langdon*, is misguided. As the chancellor's opinion clearly reflects, the award of attorney's fees was based on Rule 68 of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure and, more specifically, the Appellant's failure to accept a reasonable offer of judgment made by the Appellee. Further, there is no evidence that the chancellor was procedurally incorrect in her award of attorney's fees based on Rule 68.

In his final argument, the Appellant relies on *McKee v. McKee*, 418 So.2d 764 (Miss.1982) and *Langdon v. Langdon*, 854 So.2d 485 (Miss.Ct.App. 2003) for his proposition that the Appellee should not have been awarded attorney's fees. However, the Appellant's reliance on these two cases is unfounded. *McKee* and *Langdon* both speak to the trial court's ability to award attorney's fees when ruling on issues before it in a divorce proceeding. *Id.* In the case *sub judice*, the trial court awarded attorney's fees based on an offer of judgment made by the Appellee and rejected by the

Appellant. R-20. When awarding attorney's fees based on Rule 68, the trial court need only consider whether "the judgment finally obtained by the offeree," in this case the Appellant, is less favorable than the offer made by the offeror (Appellee) and if so, what fees were incurred by the offeror after the offer was made. M.R.C.P. 68. The chancellor clearly considered the Appellee's offer of judgment to be more favorable than her final ruling to the Appellant. R-20. Because of the chancellor's findings regarding the offer of judgment, there is and was no obligation for the Court to further consider the *McKee* factors and no requirement under *Langdon* that the Appellee be found to be financially incapable of paying her own attorney's fees.

The Appellant further points to A&L, Inc. v. Grantham, 747 So.2d 832 (Miss.1999) and Douglas v. Douglas, 766 So.2d 68 (Miss.Ct.App.2000) for the conclusion that because there was no finding that the Appellant engaged in any improper conduct, he cannot be assessed with attorney's fees. Again the Appellant's reliance on this line of cases is without merit. The award of attorney's fees was based solely on the chancellor's finding that the final ruling was less favorable to the Appellant than the offer of judgment made by the Appellee. The Appellant's lack of improper conduct is inconsequential.

With regard to the chancellor's decision to procedurally dispose of the offer of judgment issue immediately after making a ruling in the case, the Appellant argues that the chancellor should not have considered the offer of judgment until a subsequent proceeding. However, the chancellor clearly addresses that her decision was made and the ruling finalized before she opened and reviewed the sealed offer of judgment. R-20. Rule 68 does not require that additional pleadings be filed or hearings be conducted in order for a ruling on attorney's fees to be made. In fact, the chancellor's decision to resolve the offer of judgment issue while all parties were present and without further

delay was in the best interests of judicial economy and most efficient for all those involved.

The chancellor's award of attorney's fees to the Appelle was based solely on the offer of judgment rejected by the Appellant and, as such, was well within her discretion and even mandated by Rule 68 of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure. Any relief that the Appellant has requested with regard to the award of attorney's fees should be denied.

CONCLUSION

The Appellee would respectfully suggest that the Appellant has provided neither facts nor rules of law that support any of his contentions for appeal. His assertions that the present matter should be reversed and remanded because the chancellor erred with regard to the following issues is without merit: 1) the trial court's reliance on what he claims to be unsworn testimony of witnesses; 2) the allocation of roughly \$2,000.00 of debt associated with a Toyota 4-Runner; and 3) the trial court's award of attorney's fees to the Appellee based on Rule 68 of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure and more specifically an Offer of Judgment rejected by the Appellant.

Both the chancellor's decisions and procedure in conducting the trial of this cause were above reproach and well within the discretion afforded to her as as the finder of fact and the ultimate decision maker.

The Appellee respectfully requests that the Court uphold the trial court's ruling and assess the fees and costs of this appeal, including the Appellee's attorney's fees to the Appellant.